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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address: 
30 North Street

	Historic Name:
Nichols - Wilmarth House

	Uses:
Present: 
single residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  ca. 1825

	Source:  historic maps, local history, deeds

	Style/Form:   
Federal

	Architect/Builder:  
unknown

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
stone

	Wall/Trim:  
wood clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


Barn (attached)

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Front porch added, 20th C

Rear cross-gable ell added, 20th C


1 sty hyphen added to connect barn added, 20th C



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:    0.54 acre

	Setting:  This house is sited on the northwest side of North Street about midway between Main and Pond Streets. The area is largely residential. 


 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION   

The Nichols - Wilmarth House is a two-story wood frame dwelling located on the westerly side of North Street north of Main Street.  Built ca. 1825, the house has interior plan with two rooms divided by a center passage; the rooms probably had chimneys on their rear walls characteristic of houses built in Georgetown in this period and earlier.  It appears that one of those chimneys has survived on the northerly side of the house, now contained in the roof of a rear cross-gable ell added later.  The five-bay front façade is framed by narrow corner pilasters and a thin frieze across the tops of the second-story windows.  Projecting eaves with Classical cornices reflect the influence of the emerging Greek Revival taste.  The center entrance is flush with the façade and is unembellished; it is contained within a later glazed porch.  Extant six-over-six wood sash may be original.  End walls contain two windows on each story and single windows in the gables.  A one-story rear outshot is attached to the southerly end of the rear wall and is integrated into the end wall; it may be an original feature.  The northerly end wall has been widened to three window bays by the later addition of the two-story ell.
A short, one-story hyphen connects the house to a small barn that appears in the 1887 birdseye view of the village.  The vehicle door has been moved from the easterly side to the southerly end.  The deep half-acre lot extends from North Street back to a wetland in the center of the block bounded by North, Prospect and West Main streets.  Most of the area is dedicated to lawn, with the rear section now wooded. A paved driveway enters the property along the south lot line and terminates at a parking area in front of the attached barn.

The Nichols - Wilmarth House, built c. 1825, is a distinctive residence designed in the form of the Federal period with Greek Revival features.  Its association with some of the town’s noteworthy residents is historically significant.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    
The presumed early history of the house at 30 North Street, dated by the town to 1765, cannot be verified. No maps before 1830 show this part of North Street, and the house is not mentioned in Orlando B. Tenney’s ca. 1900 description of the houses standing in Georgetown in 1829.
 The house depicted on the 1830 map of Georgetown and associated with John Nichols (1785-1830), who is recorded in the 1830 census for Rowley in a household of 10 persons, including five males aged 20 to 29 years of age, some of whom may have been employees.  The map also pictures the house next door at 34 North Street, which was occupied by Nichols’s daughter Elizabeth and her husband, Jacob W. Lowell.  Neither man was found in the local census in 1820.  John Nichols married Jane Burbank in Bradford in 1805.  They may have lived in Salem before moving to Georgetown where a John Nichols of appropriate age was “engaged in manufacture.”  In 1840 Jane Nichols was living with her daughter, Elizabeth, and her husband Jacob W. Lowell in New Bedford.  

Although a record of the actual transaction has not been found, later deeds and court reports document that, probably between 1840 and his death in 1846, Jane Nichols conveyed the house to the Rev. Ezra Wilmarth, who became the sixth minister of the Baptist Society of Georgetown in 1826, and based on the order of the 1830 census may already have been living in the house. 
Born in 1772, Ezra Wilmarth was the son of John Wilmarth and Jemima Bowen, but where he was born has not been determined. By the 1790s he had become a Baptist minister, and in the tradition of Baptist itinerancy he preached and lived in many New England towns. In 1797 he moved from Fairfax, Connecticut, to preach for one year at Canaan, New Hampshire; he then went to Cheshire, Massachusetts, and by 1799 to Rumney, New Hampshire, where, according to one county history, “a general religious interested was awakened” under his preaching. He served at Rumney under a combined Baptist-Congregationalist congregation until 1813. He was in Wilton, New Hampshire, in 1817, and at several other pastorates before coming to Georgetown in 1826. He and his wife Mary McCannell, a native of Bradford, Vermont, had at least seven children—Philander, Mehitable, Louisa C., Mary, Ezra Jr., Orissa B., and Emily N. 
Wilmarth was dismissed from the Georgetown Baptist pastorate in June 1834, but he remained in town and died at this North Street house in November 1846. He willed the house to his wife Mary, during her lifetime, and his daughter Mary, a widow when she married Lewis H. Bridges of Georgetown in 1844, “in view of her misfortunes, present circumstances, and her attention to and care of her parents” as long as she chose to occupy and improve the property.
 If Mary at any time chose not to occupy the house, all of Wilmarth’s real property was to go to his other children, with double shares to his two sons, after his wife’s death. Wilmarth’s will instigated a legal battle among his descendants, the record of which provides unusual detail about the 30 North Street house.
The 1850 census shows Mary Wilmarth as a seventy-five-year-old widow with $1400 in real property. She rented part of the house to Sarah T. Dorman and her fifteen-year-old son William. The 1860 census shows her in the house with her daughter Louisa C. Wilmarth and her husband Samuel Hubbard Brocklebank, Both had earlier lived in Rumney, New Hampshire, and were then working in Georgetown’s shoe industry, Louisa as a shoe binder. Wilmarth rented part of the house at that time to shoemaker Charles Davis and his wife Priscilla, a shoe binder.
Mary Wilmarth died in February 1864 in Rumney at the age of eighty-eight, and according to court documents her daughter Mary and Mary’s husband Lewis H. Bridges moved into the house. The 1870 census shows the couple there; Lewis, a bootmaker, is shown with $1250 in real property. In July 1872 Mary Wilmarth Bridges died of consumption at the age of sixty-seven. In May of the same year Ezra Wilmarth Jr. deeded to his sister Louisa C. Brocklebank his right to his father’s Georgetown homestead, “or 

whatever right, title, and interest I have or may have in and to said property under my said father’s will to be held by the said Louisa C. Brocklebank in trust for the use and support of my daughter Charlotte E. Willmarth,” who was then living in New York City.

The death of Mary Wilmarth and Mary Bridges and the stipulation in Ezra Wilmarth Jr.’s will prompted a legal action on the part of the children of the Wilmarths’ deceased children, Philander, Ezra Jr., and Mary, all seeking a share of the Georgetown real estate; the couple’s children Mehitable, Orissa, and Emily had all also died by 1872, but none had had children. The respondents were the widower Lewis H. Bridges and Louisa C. Wilmarth Brocklebank. Court documents state that Mary Wilmarth Bridges and her husband had begun to occupy part of the North Street house after the death of her mother and that for about a year (1871-72) she had rented another part of the house. When that tenant left, Mary Bridges notified the executor of her father’s estate that she would no longer occupy part of the house—“to wit, the second story of the dwelling-house, situated on North Street, in said Georgetown, the lower story of which is now occupied by myself and my family; and I do hereby relinquish and give up all my right and authority to occupy and improve, under the will aforesaid, the second story of said dwelling-house.”
 The executor having taken no action with respect to the notice, Mary Bridges left her interest in the property to her husband. The other part of the house appears to have fallen to Louisa Brocklebank, both in her own right and as trustee for her brother Ezra’s daughter Charlotte. The Supreme Court of Massachusetts found that most of the petitioners were not entitled to a share of the North Street property. The court determined the owners of the thirty-six shares of the house it deemed valid---Lewis Bridges and Louisa Brocklebank each owned seven undivided shares in their own right, Brocklebank owned eleven shares as Charlotte Wilmarth’s trustee, and the children of Philander Wilmarth owned much smaller shares.
By 1870 Louisa Wilmarth Brocklebank had returned to Rumney with her husband, and in 1874 she and all the other legal heirs to the 30 North Street property deeded it to physician Richmond B. Root, who then owned and occupied 24 North Street.
 Root owned and rented the 30 North Street house, for some years to the boot crimper Jonathan Kimball Harriman, who, though deeds have not been found to document it, may have owned part of the property. Born in Bradford in 1811, Harriman was the son of Enoch and Sarah Brocklebank Harriman, and he and his wife Mary Smith Harriman had four children—Mary F., Eunice Adella, Frank, and Helen, born between1840 and 1851 in Georgetown. In 1877 Helen Harriman married shoe cutter Edwin S. Daniels, a native of Hill, New Hampshire then working in Georgetown. 

In 1885 J. Kimball Harriman died, and the house was occupied by this son Frank, also a shoe worker. By 1900 Edwin and Helen Harriman Daniels occupied the 30 North Street property with their daughter Mary and Helen’s brother Frank. Frank Harriman died in August 1901, and in 1906 Richmond B. Root sold 30 North Street to Edwin Daniels with all its furniture and furnishings.
 

Edwin Daniels worked for Georgetown’s A. B. Noyes Shoe Company, and by 1905 he was president of the company. The 1910 census shows Edwin and Helen Daniels in the house with their daughter Mary, a nurse, and daughter-in-law Elizabeth, a singer and the wife of their son Edwin L. Daniels, who was then working in Connecticut.  In 1915 Helen Harriman Daniels died, and by 1916 Edwin Daniels and his son had founded Daniels Shoe Company at 20 West Main Street. The 1920 census shows the two Edwins in the house with Edwin L.’s wife Elizabeth; Edwin S. was then seventy-three and clerking at a shoe store, while Edwin L. was a salesman for a wholesale shoe company.
By 1930 Edwin S. Daniels had moved to Colrain, Massachusetts, where he lived with his married daughter Mary Low, and he died there in March 1935. In 1930 he rented the house to musician Thomas W. Wilmarth and his family. Born Thomas William Isherwood in Lawrence in 1895, he was the adopted son Arthur Reynolds Wilmarth, no apparent relation to Ezra Wilmarth. He married Gertrude Lillian Wetmore in Boston in 1920, and the couple lived at 30 North Street with their children Gertrude, Stanley, and Paul. By 1941 the Wilmarths had moved to Union Street. 
In May 1935 Ernest E. Currier of Ipswich acquired 30 North Street from Merrimack National Bank of Haverhill, with whom Edwin Daniels had taken out a mortgage in 1920 but had defaulted upon.
 The 1940 directory shows 30 North as “vacant but ready for use.” In that year Currier sold the property to Florence A. Wiggin, who sold it six years later to Ralph T. and Dorothy R. Peardon of Melrose. The Peardons sold 30 North Street to Richard S. and Agnes L. Greenleaf in 1948. Born in Georgetown in 1915, Richard S. Greenleaf was the son of Edward T. and Blanche Johnson Greenleaf, and in the 1940s he lived in his parents’ house on Elm Street and worked as a shoe trimmer. In 1940 he married Lynn native Bertha Mathes, but the marriage ended in divorce, and in 1946, then, while working for Essex County, Greenleaf married Agnes L. Warren, a clerk who lived in Peabody. The 1957 directory shows Greenleaf living at 30 North Street, which also housed his company, Greenleaf Antiques.

In 1969 the Greenleafs sold the 30 North Street house, and in 1971 current owners Robert M. and Shirley C. Simons acquired the property.
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30 North Street: view from northeast

National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form

Check all that apply:
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  Individually eligible             FORMCHECKBOX 
   Eligible only in a historic district
 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Contributing to a potential historic district          FORMCHECKBOX 
  Potential historic district
Criteria:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A        FORMCHECKBOX 
    B        FORMCHECKBOX 
    C     FORMCHECKBOX 
    D

Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A      FORMCHECKBOX 
    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
    E      FORMCHECKBOX 
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                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
The Nichols - Wilmarth House, built c. 1830, is a distinctive residence designed in the form of the Federal period with Greek Revival features.  Its association with some of the town’s noteworthy residents is historically significant.  The building is a contributing component of the village district.     
� “Hon. O. B. Tenney: A Sketch of One of Georgetown’s Oldest and Most Respected Citizens,” photocopy from unidentified newspaper, Georgetown Historical Commission. Tenney’s description of the town listed what he thought included “every dwelling house then standing within the radius named and does not mention any house between 14 North, the Joseph Little House, and 34 North, the Stickney House.


� Her “misfortunes” probably included the death of her first husband and the fact that with Bridges she had had no children “born alive,” as her will stated. See Massachusetts Reports 113: Cases Argued and Determined in the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts September-November 1873 (Boston: Houghton Mifflin and Co.,  1876): 407-11.


� Ezra Willmarth, Rumney NH, toi Louisa C. Brocklebank, Rumney NH, 30 May 1872, SED 856:171.


� Massachusetts Reports 113: Cases Argued and Determined in the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts September-November 1873 (Boston: Houghton Mifflin and Co.,  1876): 407-11


� Louisa C. Brocklebank, Rumney NH; Lewis H. Bridges; Abel C. Wilmarth, New Rochelle NY; Susan F. Brooks, NYC; William C. Wilmarth, Philadelphia, to Richmond B. Root, 18 September 1874, SED 913:87; Louisa C. Brocklebank, executor estate Ezra Willmarth, Rumney NH, to Richmond B. Root, 15 September 1874, SED 913:88.


� Richmond B. Root to Edwin S. Daniels, 20 November 1906, SED 1852:388.


� Merrimack National Bank of Haverhill to Ernest E. Currier, Ipswich, May 1935, SED 3034:567.


� Ernest E. Currier, Ipswich, to Florence A. Wiggin (later Gerst), 10 June 1940, SED 3220:373; Florence A. Gerst, widow, Beverly, to Ralph T. and Dorothy R. Peardon, Melrose, 9 August 1946, SED 3474:438; Ralph T. and Dorothy R. Peardon to Richard S. and Agnes L. Greenleaf, 24 June 1948, SED 3610:350.  


� Richard S. and Agnes L. Greenleaf to Robert W. and Nancy L. Carter, Danvers, 21 July 1969, SED 5624:93; Robert W. and Nancy L. Carter to Robert M. and Shirley C. Simons, Peabody, 21 June 1971, SED 5776:39.
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